IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**THE FLORIDA BAR,
SC01-1403, SC01-2737
Complainant.**

Supreme Court Case Nos.

SC02-1592 & SC03-210

v.

LEE HOWARD GROSS,

Respondent.

Florida Bar File Nos.

**1999-71,301(11M), 2000-70,
390(11M), 2001-70,681(11M),
2002-71,060(11M), 2002-70
081(11M) & 2002-70,374(11M)**

_____ /

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

**RICHARD B. MARX, ESQ.
LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD B. MARX & ASSOCIATES
Attorney for Respondent
66 West Flagler Street
Second Floor
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 579-9060
Fax (305) 377-0503
Florida Bar No.: 051075**

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did Respondent's addiction rise to a level such that it is sufficient mitigation to overcome the presumption of disbarment for his substantial and egregious acts of misconduct?
2. Should the Amended Report of Referee be disapproved due to the fact it is clearly erroneous as a result of the Referee's failure to make findings of fact and conduct an analysis regarding Respondent's addiction and rehabilitation as mitigation?
3. Does the disbarment of the Respondent violate the Americans with Disabilities Act pursuant to 42 U.S.C. ' 12131 ?
4. Is the Respondent entitled to mitigation that overcomes the presumption of disbarment such that the appropriate discipline is a long term suspension?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Bar filed four complaints against Respondent which were consolidated for the final hearing. The first complaint alleged misappropriation of client funds, trust account violations, and the failure to comply with a subpoena (case number SC01-1403). The second complaint alleged Respondent neglected and failed to communicate with his client (case number SC01-2737). The third complaint alleged that Respondent participated in a mortgage fraud (case number SC02-1592). The fourth complaint alleged that Respondent forged a judge's and client's signature. (case number SC03-210). On May 21, 2002, Respondent was suspended from the practice of law on an emergency basis for misappropriating client funds, committing mortgage fraud and failing to comply with a Florida Bar subpoena.

The final hearing took place May 19, 2003, June 24, 2003 and June 26, 2003. All factual allegations contained in the complaint were admitted by stipulations entered into by the parties. Respondent presented extensive evidence in mitigation based upon his impairment (alcoholism and substance abuse), personal emotional problems, rehabilitation, remorse, good character and good reputation. Eleven witnesses testified for Respondent, and two witnesses

testified for the Bar. The testimony of Respondent-s witnesses was not challenged, impeached and was uncontested. The following is a summary of their testimony:

1. Myer Cohen is the Executive Director of Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. (hereinafter AFLA®). FLA is an organization created by The Florida Bar and the Supreme Court in 1986 to help Florida lawyers, law students and judges who may have impairment problems due to alcohol or drug abuse or due to psychological problems. TR1 105. Mr. Cohen testified that Respondent voluntarily entered into a rehabilitation contract with FLA on May 20, 2002. TR1 112. The contract incorporates a rehabilitation program that includes attendance at 12-step meetings, Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) or Narcotics Anonymous (NA), attorney support group meetings, random urinalysis testing and meetings with an attorney/monitor who oversees compliance with the contract terms. TR1 108. Mr. Cohen testified that after reviewing Respondent-s FLA file, Respondent has complied with the contract and has, **AY** come to an understanding of what chemical dependency is and how it has affected his life and his performance and his practice and I think he is taking the steps that are necessary to address it. I don't know how much you can tell after a year, but he certainly has been doing everything that he-s supposed to for that year.® TR1 113-114. Mr. Cohen

testified that 80% to 95% of the attorneys that join FLA enjoy sustained recovery and become not only better lawyers than they were before but better than many lawyers in the general population of lawyers as a whole. TR1 116-117. Mr. Cohen stated that, 88 % of the FLA participants that comply with the contract don't have any problems during the term that they are under contract. TR1 117.

Mr. Cohen testified that Respondent is doing everything that has been asked and required of him, and is well on his way with his recovery.

2. Evan Zimmer, M.D. is a psychiatrist, board certified by the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology and is an addictionologist. Dr. Zimmer is also the Director of Phoenix Community Mental Health Center and the Director of Psychiatric Services at St. Luke's Addiction Treatment Center in Miami, Florida. Dr. Zimmer evaluated Respondent April 28, 2003 and testified that he diagnosed Respondent as suffering from dysthymia, a chronic mild to moderate depression and chemical dependency, which is now in remission. TR2 42, 63. Dr. Zimmer directly linked Respondent's misconduct that resulted in his bar complaints with the alcohol and drugs he was consuming on a daily basis. TR2 60. Dr. Zimmer analogized Respondent's case of alcohol and drug abuse to a chemical lobotomy and that as result of his alcohol and drug abuse Respondent lost his ability to discern right from wrong. TR2 98-99. Dr. Zimmer recommended inpatient treatment, but concluded that if Respondent attends his AA meetings

regularly, complies with his FLA contract, maintains a monitor and sponsor and continues working the twelve steps, then his chances of staying sober are excellent. TR2 117.

3. Dr. Janice Wilmoth is a psychologist with a doctorate degree in psychology and neuropsychology, and is a State and Internationally certified addiction professional. Dr. Wilmoth has been a clinical and executive director of several treatment facilities and has lectured extensively on the topic of addiction. Dr. Wilmoth is the treating group therapist for Respondent through FLA. Dr. Wilmoth has been working with Respondent in group therapy on a weekly basis since September of 2002 and has diagnosed Respondent as having poly-substance dependence and a depression disorder. TR2 135. Dr. Wilmoth, like Dr. Zimmer, has found a direct correlation between Respondent's alcoholism and drug abuse and his misconduct. TR2 134. Dr. Wilmoth indicated that Respondent is no longer a candidate for inpatient treatment, and concluded that people who remain alcohol and drug free for a year have a 90 percent chance of staying sober.

4. Glen Lurie is a registered architect and personal friend of Respondent for 15 years. Mr. Lurie testified that he would get together with Respondent socially for football games and barbeques. Mr. Lurie had personal knowledge concerning how Respondent's alcohol and drug use began to escalate in 1995-1997. Mr. Lurie testified that Respondent would come over his house at 9:00 a.m. already

drunk and having not been to bed. Mr. Lurie testified that in May 2002, Respondent acknowledged that he had a problem, sought counseling, joined AA and stopped drinking and using drugs. TR3 59-60. Mr. Lurie is convinced of Respondent's recovery and would absolutely trust him in handling his affairs. TR3 60.

5. Andy Custer, Esq. is an attorney, and testified as to how Respondent acted during his alcohol and drug use and that Respondent always had to borrow money because he was broke. Mr. Custer had first hand knowledge that Respondent's electricity, telephone and cable were turned off, and that his car was repossessed. TR 64-65. Mr. Custer, a previous employer of Respondent, testified that prior to his suspension and during his initial months in recovery, Respondent could not function as an attorney. Mr. Custer testified that Respondent could not concentrate and no matter how hard he worked, he was just not there. He was easily distracted. He was not able under his best efforts to move forward. So I consequently had him doing things completely unrelated to law. TR3 66. Mr. Custer testified that he would not hesitate hiring Respondent to work for him if he was the same person he used to be before falling victim to his addictions. TR3 66.

6. Jorge Varela is Respondent's AA sponsor. Mr. Varela has been a member of AA for more than five years and met Respondent in the Coral Room (an AA

meeting room in Coral Gables, Florida). TR1 142. Mr. Varela is helping Respondent work the twelve steps of AA and they are currently working on the ninth step. TR1 144. When Mr. Varela first met Respondent his impression was that Respondent looked like Pigpen, a character out of the Peanuts comic strip, with a cloud over him. AHe looked pretty bad@. TR1 142. Mr. Varela has seen a dramatic change in Respondent since they first met. Respondent Asmiles nowYHe feels a bit more peace and serenity@. TR1 145-146. Mr. Varela testified that Respondent is now working on making amends because he knows that he needs those amends for him to hopefully not drink again.@

7. Benjamin Usher, Esq. is Respondent's FLA Monitor. Mr. Usher is a former Federal Administrative Judge, former attorney with the United States Department of Labor, and former general counsel for the presidential committee on the Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission. TR1 153-154. Mr. Usher is a recovering alcoholic and has 21 years of continuous sobriety. He met Respondent in June of 2002 and became his FLA Monitor. As an FLA Monitor he meets with Respondent at least once a week and has to make sure that Respondent does not use alcohol or drugs, that he attends at least one lawyer support group meeting a week and at least three AA or NA meetings a week and assures that he complies with his FLA contract. Mr. Usher files monthly monitoring reports with FLA. Mr. Usher testified that as Respondent's FLA

Monitor, he remains in contact with him on a steady basis, and, Respondent is in compliance with his FLA Rehabilitation Contract and has been doing more than everything asked of him in his program of recovery. TR1 156.

8. Ari Mendelson, Esq., is an attorney who did work for Respondent in his office. Mr. Mendelson met Respondent in August 1999 and started doing legal work for Respondent such as covering hearings, depositions and performing other lawyerly duties. TR1 129. Mr. Mendelson had a strong suspicion that Respondent was abusing alcohol and drugs when he discovered liquor bottles in Respondent's office. Mr. Mendelson testified that Respondent was perpetually out of money, was always disorganized, and demonstrated the personal appearance of a person who was abusing alcohol and/or drugs. TR1 135.

9. Robin Jung, Esq. is a former law partner of Respondent who is now an attorney with the United States Department of Commerce. Mr. Jung became partners with Respondent in the early 90-s because Respondent was a very good lawyer, confident, aggressive, hard working and a model example of someone who zealously represented his clients. TR1 149. Mr. Jung described Respondent as someone who works hard and plays hard and drank more than most people.

10. Russell Spatz, Esq. is a former Division Chief for the State Attorney's Office, and former law professor at St. Thomas University School of Law and

currently is in private practice. Mr. Spatz has been a member of AA for over 22 years and has seen Respondent at the Coral Room almost every Saturday and has heard Respondent share his testimony. TR3 11. Mr. Spatz testified that Respondent is a serious member of AA, that he values his membership and that he wants to stay sober more than anything else, that he wants to get his life on track and is sincere in his desire. TR3

11. Bradley Stark, Esq. is an attorney in private practice and former professor of Respondent while at the University of Miami School of Law. Mr. Stark is a sole practitioner with a varied practice and has done a great deal of sophisticated criminal cases, as well as securities regulation, and disciplinary work. Mr. Stark remembers Respondent as an excellent student and a top-notch lawyer who he had referred cases to in the past. TR3 114-115, 117. Mr. Stark testified that he noticed a change in Respondent and that things became progressively worse for Respondent as he began to drink and use drugs to excess. Respondent's condition got so bad that there came a time when he no longer referred cases to Respondent. TR3 117. Mr. Stark testified that he has seen Respondent bring the same determination he brought to his cases before his addiction to the process of recovery. TR1 122. Mr. Stark has observed the evolution in Respondent to the point where the most important thing for him now is his sobriety. Mr. Stark testified he watched the evolution of Respondent and that he has seen

Respondent Aspiral down in his life and has now seen him climb back and it is very real.@TR1 124.

After the hearing concluded Florida Bar requested the Referee recommend disbarment and the Respondent requested the Referee recommend a long term suspension.

On August 1, 2003 the Referee issued a report, which found Respondent guilty of the charged violations and recommended a four-year disbarment. Both parties filed motions for rehearing which were heard September 4, 2003. An Amended Report of Referee issued, which changed the recommended discipline from a four-year disbarment to a five-year disbarment *nunc pro tunc* to May 21, 2002, the date of Respondent's emergency suspension.

The Referee's reports make no reference to the testimony presented at the hearing except for one sentence on Page 13 of the Amended Report which mentions the testimony of Dr. Zimmer with respect to his recommendation that Respondent undergo inpatient substance abuse treatment for three months to a year or longer. ARR at 13. The reports fail to mention or analyze any of the testimony of Respondent's witnesses. There are no findings of fact related to Respondent's alcohol and drug abuse or his recovery, other than it states that Respondent's misconduct was largely the product of his alcohol and drug

addiction. ARR at 12. There are no findings as to the complete and total devastation Respondent experienced in his life. The original and amended reports do not even acknowledge that Respondent raised the issue of addiction as a mitigating factor despite the fact that was the primary testimony during three days of trial. It was as if Respondent failed to produce any witnesses or present a defense at his hearing.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent did not wake up one morning and decide to ruin his career and his life. The three days of testimony dealing almost exclusively with addiction and rehabilitation, which was unchallenged, uncontroverted and unopposed established that Respondent was a suffering alcoholic and drug addict, and that his addiction consumed and destroyed everything of value in his life including his ability to function as an attorney. Respondent lost his income, his home, his car, his office, his business, his license to practice law, and his family. Respondent was destitute and had become financially, spiritually, emotionally and morally bankrupt as a direct and proximate result of his addiction. Respondent's alcoholism and substance abuse addiction rose to a level that he had a diminished capacity at the time he committed substantial and egregious acts of misconduct. Respondent entered the recovery process, which includes but is not limited to his voluntarily joining Alcoholics Anonymous, working a twelve step program, voluntarily signing a contract with Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. and participating in group therapy. If addiction and rehabilitation can be a basis for mitigation so as to overcome the presumption of disbarment, then there can be no case more compelling than the instant case.

The Referee's recommendation of disbarment is not supported by clear and

convincing evidence and should be disapproved by this Honorable Court.

Respondent's disbarment violates the Americans with Disabilities Act pursuant to 42 U.S.C. ' 12131.

The appropriate discipline for Respondent is a 3 year suspension.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

RESPONDENT-S ADDICTION AND REHABILITATION CONSTITUTE SUFFICIENT MITIGATION TO OVERCOME THE PRESUMPTION OF DISBARMENT FOR HIS SUBSTANTIAL AND EGREGIOUS MISCONDUCT

A. Understanding the Addict and Addiction

It is virtually impossible to understand the mind of an alcoholic and an addict until one has walked in his shoes. Only then can there be an appreciation for what the alcoholic and addict experiences. The concept of addiction is foreign to most reasonable people although most families have been touched by this disease. The difficulty in understanding and analyzing the concept of addiction is that it is an illogical disease. It is extremely complex to have a logical analysis of an illogical problem. For example, a person who suffers from addiction to drugs and alcohol does not wake up one morning and decide that this is the day I am going to use alcohol or drugs to the point that I may lose my wife, children, financial stability, standing in the community, ruin my health, destroy my relationships and wreck my career. The judge who became intoxicated and passed out in the hall of a hotel half naked during a judicial conference, I am sure did not decide that morning that she was going to take her clothes off in public, humiliate herself in front of her colleagues and bring shame to her reputation and profession.

Recognizing the difficulty in conveying the concept of addiction and the devastation that it brings, the Court may better understand it if it is compared to using tobacco. No rational person would smoke tobacco today given the tremendous amount of information available regarding the health hazards associated with smoking, yet people continue to smoke because they are addicted and cannot stop. The same concept applies to the individual addicted to alcohol and drugs. He or she is driven by a compulsion that puts them on a path of self destruction which defies all logic.

The book of Alcoholics Anonymous in the chapter 11 (*A Vision for You*) describes this struggle as follows:

For most normal folks, drinking means conviviality, companionship and colorful imagination. It means release from care, boredom and worry. It is joyous intimacy with friends and a feeling that life is good. But not so for us in those last days of heavy drinking. The old pleasures were gone. They were but memories. Never could we recapture the great moments of the past. There was an insistent yearning to enjoy life as we once did and a heartbreaking obsession that some new miracle of control would enable us to do it. There was always one more attempt and one more failure.

The less people tolerated us, the more we withdrew from society, from life itself. As we became subjects of King Alcohol, shivering denizens of his mad realm, the chilling vapor that is loneliness settled down. It thickened, ever becoming blacker. Some of us sought out sordid places, hoping to find understanding companionship and approval. Momentarily we did then would come oblivion and the awful awakening to face the hideous Four

Horsemen C Terror, Bewilderment, Frustration, Despair. Unhappy drinkers who read this page will understand!¹

We are in effect asking the justices of this Court to try and walk in Respondent's shoes when judging him. Many times a better understanding comes from personal anecdotes. In his article *In the Solution*, Robert W. Gwin, Jr., writes a vivid description of his struggle with addiction:

It was my professional ambition to become successful and to be respected by my peers. But there was a hole in my soul that no amount of alcohol could fill. My thoughts remind me of Peggy Lee's song, *If That's All There Is?* Constant attempts to fill the hole in my soul with alcohol never seemed to bring real peace and serenity. And, as my addiction progressed, the results were disastrous: loss of family and friends, severe financial problems, being fired as a partner in a respected law firm, and finally the loss of my law license due to willful neglect of my clients' legal problems. The loss of control over my drinking was so complete that alcohol controlled every aspect of my lifestyle. Alcohol became wholly consuming, causing a mental and emotional paralysis. I became unable to make even simple decisions and follow through with appropriate actions.²

This is exactly the plight of the alcoholic and addict which has been proven in this case.

B. Alcoholism and Substance Abuse is a Disease.

¹ Alcoholics Anonymous at 151.

² Robert W. Gwin, Jr., *In the Solution*, 60 Ala.Law.Rev. 140 March 2001.

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