IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Supreme Court Case Nos.

SC01-1403, SC01-2737,

Complainant, SC02-1592, and SC03-210

v.

Respondent.

LEE HOWARD GROSS, The Florida Bar File Nos.

1999-71,301(11M), 2000-70,390(11M),

2001-70,681(11M), 2002-71,060(11M),

2002-70,081(11M), and 2002-

70,374(11M)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

WILLIAM MULLIGAN

Bar Counsel

Florida Bar No. 0956880

The Florida Bar

444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100

Miami, Florida 33131

(305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS

Staff Counsel

Florida Bar No. 0253847

The Florida Bar

651 East Jefferson Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300

(850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.

Executive Director

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent has not established that the Referee erred by recommending a five (5) year disbarment. The Referee's finding of a five (5) year disbarment is consistent with and in keeping with existing case law for similar fraudulent conduct. Respondent has provided evidence of abuse of drugs and alcohol, but did not provide clear and convincing evidence that it was the direct cause of his misconduct. Additionally, Respondent was unable to establish the duration of his

alcohol and drug abuse, and Dr. Zimmer testified at the final hearing that he was less than pleased with Respondent's course of treatment. Furthermore, the recommendation of disbarment is not in violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act pursuant to 42 U.S.C. section 12131. The Referee's findings of fact, including all mitigation and aggravation, are supported in the record and should not be disturbed by this Court. Accordingly, this Court should approve the Amended Report of Referee and impose at least a five (5) year disbarment.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Respondent has not established that the referee erred by recommending a five (5) year disbarment. Pursuant to Rule 3-7.7(c)(5) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, "...the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified." This Court will not interfere with the discipline recommended by the referee if there is a reasonable basis in case law. See, Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 1999).

The basic guidelines for determining appropriate discipline have been reiterated in case law numerous times. Those guidelines are (1) the judgment must be fair to society; (2) it must be fair to the attorney; and (3) it must sufficiently deter other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Clement, 662 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1995).

Respondent presents the following issues in his initial brief:

- 1. Did Respondent's addiction rise to a level such that it is sufficient mitigation to overcome the presumption of disbarment for his substantial and egregious acts of misconduct?
- 2. Should the Amended Report of Referee be disapproved due to the fact it is clearly erroneous as a result of the Referee's failure to make

- findings of fact and conduct an analysis regarding Respondent's addiction and rehabilitation as mitigation?
- 3. Does the disbarment of the Respondent violate the Americans with Disabilities Act pursuant to 42 U.S.C. section 12131?
- 4. Is the Respondent entitled to mitigation that overcomes the presumption of disbarment such that the appropriate discipline is a long term suspension?

In sum, Respondent's four (4) issues really boil down to the following:

Did Respondent produce enough mitigation evidence to overcome the presumption of disbarment for the enormous amount of misconduct which occurred in the subject cases?

The remaining portions of this answer brief will examine the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and case law in the context of the cases at hand. In the process, it will address Respondent's issues and refute his contentions and clearly establish that at least a five (5) year disbarment should be imposed by this Court.

Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions ("Standards") was drafted by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar to assist in the determination

of the appropriate discipline in Bar disciplinary matters. Accordingly, there are numerous sections contained in the Standards that direct disbarment which individually support the Referee's findings and conclusions in the immediate proceeding including:

- 4.11 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.
- 4.41 Disbarment is appropriate when:
 - (b) a lawyer knowingly fails to perform services for a client and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client; or
 - (c) a lawyer engages in a pattern of neglect with respect to client matters and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client.
- 4.61 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly or intentionally deceives a client with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another regardless of injury or potential injury to the client.
- 5.11 Disbarment is appropriate when:
 - (b) a lawyer engages in serious criminal conduct, a necessary element of which includes intentional interference with the administration of justice, false swearing, misrepresentation, fraud, extortion, misappropriation, or theft; or
- (f) a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice.
- 6.11 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer:
 - (a) with the intent to deceive the court, knowingly makes a false statement or submits a false document; or
 - (b) improperly withholds material information, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party, or causes a significant or potentially significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding.
- 7.1 Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally engages in

conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional with the intent to obtain a benefit for the lawyer or another, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

In addition, there are a number of applicable aggravating factors, as set forth in the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, which support the Referee's findings and conclusions in the immediate proceeding including:

A. 9.22(a) - prior disciplinary offenses;
On September 14, 2000 in Supreme Court case no. SC00-1573,
Respondent was suspended for noncompliance with a Bar subpoena issued in September 1999 requesting his appearance and production of any and all trust account records. Said suspension was subsequently set aside on October 24, 2000, after Respondent produced documents verifying the sources of funds received by him and the reasons for payments from his trust account. It is important to note that, subsequently, the Bar discovered that Respondent failed to reveal the existence of one (1) of his trust accounts and in fact never complied with said subpoena. **TR3 28 and 29.** Also, on May 21, 2002 in Supreme Court case no. SC02-925, the Supreme Court issued an emergency suspension of Respondent due to much of the same misconduct before this Court.

B. 9.22(b) - dishonest or selfish motive;

Respondent's numerous cases are replete with misrepresentations due to selfish motivations.

C. 9.22(c) - a pattern of misconduct;

Respondent's cases contain numerous instances of fraud, theft, and misrepresentation over a period of seven (7) years.

D. 9.22(d) - multiple offenses;

Respondent's cases involve numerous instances of trust account theft, forgeries, mortgage fraud, and serious client neglect.

E. 9.22(e) - bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding by intentionally failing to comply with rules or orders of the disciplinary agency;

As noted above, the Supreme Court entered a suspension order due to Respondent's failure to comply with a trust account subpoena. Additionally, the Bar issued subsequent subpoenas and Respondent failed to comply with any of them. **TR3 49.** Also, in case no. SC01-1403, the Referee orally issued an Order Deeming Matters Admitted due to Respondent's failure to provide a timely response to the Bar's Request for Admissions (this order was subsequently set aside due to agreement between the Bar and Respondent). Additionally, in case no. SC01-1403, the Referee had to issue two (2) written orders to compel due to Respondent's continuing failure to provide complete answers to the Bar's Request for Production and Interrogatories. Finally, as noted above, the Supreme Court entered an emergency suspension order due to much of the same misconduct before this Court.

F. 9.22(f) - submission of false evidence;

As noted above, the Bar discovered that Respondent failed to reveal one (1) of his trust accounts that existed during the subject time period for which the Bar issued a subpoena duces tecum requesting any and all trust account records. Additionally, Respondent has represented that no client suffered harm when in fact restitution has not been paid in full to all clients.

G. 9.22(h) - vulnerability of victim;

Respondent entered a written plea of guilty to a criminal offense on behalf of client, Tonya Sheets without notifying her (See The Florida Bar's Exhibit "2"). Subsequently, Ms. Sheets spent time in jail partially due to Respondent's actions. **TR1 84.**

H. 12.1(b) - Actual harm to clients or third parties;

Respondent has failed to make restitution in full to all clients, and as noted above, Ms. Sheets spent time in jail partially due to Respondent's actions.

Respondent has offered the following mitigating factors from the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions:

- A. 9.32(h) physical or mental disability or impairment; Respondent has provided evidence of abuse of drugs and alcohol, but did not provide clear and convincing evidence that it was the direct cause of his misconduct. **TR2 97.**
- B. 9.32(j) interim rehabilitation;

While Respondent presented testimony that he has been making progress, Dr. Evan Zimmer has been less than pleased with Respondent's course of recovery. **TR2 46.**

3) 9.32(1) - remorse;

Upon being emergency suspended, Respondent had no other choice than to be remorseful.

Cases in Support of Disbarment

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Shuminer</u>, 567 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990), this Court disbarred Shuminer for misappropriating approximately twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000.00) in client funds. The Court acknowledged Shuminer's extensive mitigation including:

- 1) Testimony of an M.D. who was a board certified Addictionologist who diagnosed Shuminer as chemically dependent on alcohol and cocaine at the time of his violations. Additionally, it was evidenced that Shuminer was a drug abuser since he was ten (10) years old. The doctor testified that he had been supervising Shuminer's medical care which consisted of detoxification, voluntary long term treatment including in-hospital extended treatment, supervised by FLA, and his participation in Alcoholic's Anonymous and Narcotics Anonymous. The doctor testified that addiction was the cause of Shuminer's disciplinary violations and that his prognosis for recovery was excellent.
- 2) The Staff Attorney for FLA testified that Shuminer was under contract with them, that they have been supervising him and that he was in full compliance. The program included: random drug testing, professional support groups, and Narcotics and Alcoholics Anonymous.
- 3) Two (2) Miami-Dade County Circuit Court Judges testified that Shuminer was an excellent attorney of good moral character.
 - 4) Shuminer had no prior discipline.
- 5) He had great personal and emotional problems including his disease of addiction, his impairment, and family and other problems.
 - 6) Shuminer made a timely and good faith effort at restitution to all his

clients. He still owed money to two (2) doctors, but he had arranged a plan of repayment.

- 7) Cooperation with the Bar in that Shuminer waived the requirement of a probable cause finding by the grievance committee and entered into an unconditional guilty plea in the Bar proceeding.
 - 8) His inexperience in the practice of law (a total of one (1) year).
 - 9) He was clearly mentally impaired due to his addiction.
- 10) He was seriously, productively, and successfully involved in rehabilitation for over one (1) year.
 - 11) The referee found him to be genuinely remorseful.

In finding disbarment, this Court determined that Shuminer failed to establish that his addictions rose to a sufficient level of impairment to outweigh the seriousness of his offenses. This Court noted that Shuminer continued to work effectively during the period at issue and that he used a portion of the funds (approximately five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00)) to purchase an automobile.

In comparison, the case at hand contains a substantially greater amount of misappropriation of client funds, for a significantly longer duration, involving many more clients, in conjunction with other violations including forgeries, serious neglect, and mortgage fraud, which on their own would warrant disbarment.

Furthermore, Respondent has failed to provide mitigating evidence to equal that of <u>Shuminer</u> as noted:

- Neither Dr. Evan Zimmer nor Dr. Wilmoth could directly link
 Respondent's misconduct with his substance abuse.
- 2. Respondent declined to participate in residential treatment when it was recommended to him.
- 3. Neither Dr. Zimmer nor Dr. Wilmoth could testify as to the duration of Respondent's substance abuse.
- 4. Dr. Zimmer clearly expressed displeasure with Respondent's course of treatment.
- 5. Respondent was not candid in representations he made to Dr. Wilmoth and Dr. Zimmer.
 - 6. Respondent was not in full compliance with his FLA contract.
 - 7. Respondent has a prior disciplinary history.

While Respondent has claimed that his substance abuse issues were long standing, and that as time wore on, they prevented him from being able to adequately function as an attorney, he supplied contradictory evidence during the discovery process in Supreme Court case no. SC02-1592. On September 4, 2002, Respondent submitted his Amended Answers to The Florida Bar's First Set of

Interrogatories (The Florida Bar's exhibit "10" in evidence). As an attachment to said Amended Answers, Respondent included a transcript from a court proceeding in November 6, 2001 wherein the presiding judge commended Respondent on the effectiveness of his representation. By supplying this information, Respondent was "trying to have his cake and eat it too". Respondent is, in effect, arguing "selective" impairment". When it benefits him, Respondent will conveniently argue that he had moments of brilliance during the turmoil. Unfortunately for Respondent, the evidence reveals, like Shuminer, he continued to work effectively during the period at issue. The testimony of Ari Mendelson further supports this position that Respondent continued to work effectively. Mr. Mendelson first met Respondent in August of 1999 and testified at the final hearing, "I saw Mr. Gross practice for quite a while and he was very successful in winning his cases for his clients. I thought in terms of winning his client's cases, he was more than competent." TR1 140.

When you compare Respondent's cases in their totality to <u>Shuminer</u>, one can only conclude that disbarment is the appropriate sanction for Respondent.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Golub</u>, 550 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1989), this Court held that unauthorized removal of substantial sums of estate warrants disbarment, notwithstanding alcoholism defense. In <u>Golub</u>, the attorney misappropriated approximately twenty-three thousand six hundred eight dollars (\$23,608.00) from

one client's estate funds. The misappropriation occurred over a three (3) year time frame and the funds were not replaced. Golub stipulated to the facts and waived a finding of probable cause. Golub argued his extreme alcoholism, his cooperation in the Bar proceedings, his voluntary self-imposed suspension since 1986, and the absence of any prior disciplinary record in mitigation. This Court determined that since Golub's misappropriation occurred over an extended period of time, he betrayed the client's trust, and he failed to repay the subject monies, disbarment was appropriate.

Once again, in the case at hand, the amount misappropriated was substantially greater, occurred for a period approximately twice as long as the misappropriation in Golub, and involved numerous clients, unlike Golub. Additionally, while Respondent may have repaid most of his clients, in many cases the repayment did not occur for a significant period of time. Also, Respondent failed to evidence that he made complete restitution to Dr. Frederick N. Herman (Supreme Court Case No. SC01-1403) and Tanya Sheets (Supreme Court Case No. SC03-210). Respondent stipulated that he misappropriated thirty thousand one hundred eighty-five dollars and ninety-two cents (\$30, 185.92) in client funds of Dr. Herman. ARR 2. At the final hearing, Respondent testified that he still had not made full repayment to Dr. Herman, over seven (7) years later. TR3 99.

Additionally, Respondent stipulated that he misappropriated seven thousand sixteen dollars and eighty cents (\$7,016.80) in client funds from Ms. Sheets. **ARR 5**.

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